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Joseph Garruba 
28 Winchester Dr. 
Hollis, NH 03049 
Oct 10, 2019 
 

To: Members of the Hollis Planning board 

     Hollis Planning Department 

    James P. Gove Wetland Scientist 

       Christopher Guida Wetland Scientist 

 

Re: Wetland Delineation on Hollis tax map 10 Lot 33-1 

 

In researching the proposed development of property at Hollis tax map 10 Lot 33-1.  I have reviewed 

the prior approvals for development of a golf course on the property.   I have uncovered important information 

which bears directly on the delineation of wetlands on the property now.   

I am attaching an image of the site plan for subdivision of the property in 1997.   This plan shows two 

wetland areas on the site.  One irregular area located near the southern border of the property and another 

surrounding the northern pond.  This plan is on file at the Hollis town hall if an enlarged copy is required. 

 

  

Presently the developer has drawn up plans which show a drastic reduction of wetland area around the 

northerly pond and do not show the wetlands at the southern border of the property at all.   The town planner 

has directed a second wetland scientist, Mr. James Gove to perform a site inspection as well.  Mr. Gove 

provided a letter which I have included below indicating.  “Areas that have been identified as wetlands on the 
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1997 plans were tested and did not have hydric soils.”   I have included an image of the 2019 delineation and 

page 2 of Mr. Gove’s letter below.   Both documents are available in the town records if desired.   
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The key point is that in 2019 the wetlands have not been delineated with concern for unauthorized 

activities or disturbed soils in accordance to with the 1987 Army Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation 

manual.   Since the specific information I am presenting was not considered by the wetland scientists when 

evaluating the property, it is likely that wetland areas of the 1997 delineation, highlighted in yellow above have 

been missed entirely.   Specifically the area surrounding the Northerly pond.   From a Site Specific Soil Survey 

conducted by Christopher Guida on Sept 6 2019, it can be seen that there are disturbed soils surrounding the 

entire northerly pond.  Soil manipulation which occurred in the wetlands area surrounding the Northerly pond 

constitutes an unauthorized disturbance     I have included an image of the first page of a violation notice 

written by the town of Hollis in 1998.  The entire two page letter is available in the town records if desired.  

Town staff can be contacted at 603-465-2209 for assistance in obtaining the references.  

Subsequent to the creation of the referenced plans of 1997, the site was approved to be developed as 
a golf course.  The wetlands on the site were specifically protected and no alteration was permitted within their 
boundaries.  In November of 1998 the Hollis planning board identified a violation of the site plan.  The violation 

included dredging of the northerly pond and destruction of its natural vegetative buffer.  It also required 
restoration of the wetlands.  I cannot find any evidence that the wetlands were restored as required. 

 
I raise these concerns because the unauthorized destruction of the wetlands and the fact that they 

were not restored bears directly on the present wetland delineation.   Due to the complex history on the site 

and the unauthorized activities in the wetlands, according to the US Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands 

Delineation Manual of 1987 (USACE), a Level 2 Onsite delineation is necessary.  This was not apparent without 

the information provided in the violation letter above.   The Hollis Zoning ordinance requires the 1987 USACE 

Delineation manual specifically.   This is particularly relevant because the 2012 Northcentral and Northeast 

Region Supplement (Doc # ERDC\EL TR-12-1) contains a different method for delineating atypical conditions like 

unauthorized disturbance.  
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 The most recent Site Specific Soil Survey dated 9-6-19 by the applicant shows an area of disturbed soils 

surrounding the northerly pond, an image of the soil survey map is provided below.  The entire Site Specific Soil 

Survey map and narrative are on file a Hollis town hall for inspection. 
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Per the US Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual of 1987 (USACE), in more complex 

situations a Level 2 – Onsite inspection is necessary.   Following this process, the manual provides a flow chart 

in section D Subsection 2 which I have included below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Considering the amount of prior alteration and the unauthorized activities on the site the proper 

method is a level 2, onsite inspection.  
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The flow chart below, taken from the USACE manual, describes the procedures for an onsite wetlands 

delineation.     

 

 

Step 2 of the flow chart directs the scientist to section F for atypical conditions such as man made 

disturbances.  Unauthorized activities such as the destruction of vegetation and dredging described in the 

violation letter represent an atypical situation which requires the procedures of section F. I have included the 

text of section F below for reference. 
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When searching for evidence of hydrophilic vegetation in these conditions, especially if it was removed 

by any unauthorized activities described on P73 the manual recommends relying on prior historic information 

in particular, prior site plans such as the plan referenced above.  Excerpt below from P76 of the USACE 

delineation manual.  

 

 

To identify the prior presence of hydric soils, similarly, historic information is to be used due to the 

manipulation of the surface soil layers per P 78 of the USACE delineation manual. 
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To determine prior hydrology, the same process is outlined.   Again historical records are to be used as 

per P87 of the USACE manual. 

 

The 2012 Northcentral and Northeast Supplement address the delineation of “difficult wetland 

situations” differently.  Specifically, it does not rely as heavily on prior delineation as the original 1987 USACE 

manual does.   This sets a higher standard for identifying previous wetlands impacted by unauthorized 

activities.  Wetlands that would have been delineated according to the process for atypical situations set out in 

the 1987 manual may no longer be delineated as easily.    During Mr. Gove’s review of the wetland delineation 

he relied on the US Army Corps of Engineers Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland 

Delineation Manual.   I have included an image of the first page of Mr.Gove’s letter indicating that he relied on 

the 2012 Regional supplement while conducting his review of Mr. Guida’s prior delineation. 
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Although it may be appropriate to use the 2012 Regional supplement to conduct delineations for state 

permits, the Hollis Zoning ordinance is explicit in its requirement that delineations be conducted in accordance 

with the 1987 USACE manual as can be seen below from section VIII of the Hollis Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 

Based on the new information concerning the unauthorized destruction of the wetlands, the 1987 

Corps of Engineer’s manual is clear that the wetland scientist is to rely on prior historical information to 

complete the delineation, it is important to revisit the delineation conducted by Mr. Guida and reviewed by Mr. 

Gove for the site plan of 3-29-19.  The conclusions were incomplete because neither scientist had all of the 

relevant information needed to make a proper delineation as they were likely unaware of the prior 
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unauthorized activities.   Considering this new information and the fact that we have a high quality assessment 

of the property prior the unauthorized activities we can accurately place the wetlands as they were recorded in 

1997 prior to the unauthorized activity.  The Hollis zoning ordinance requires that a proper delineation be 

conducted according to the 1987 USACE Wetland delineation manual 

It is incumbent on the board to have proper delineation of the wetland boundaries of the site before 

further consideration of this proposal.  The board should direct a wetland scientist to conduct a Level 2, onsite 

delineation considering the unauthorized activity per the US Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation 

Manual of 1987.  A full report will be needed including all rational for the determination considering the 

problematic history of the site. 

 

Regards, 

 

Joseph Garruba 

  


